'I 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 

DEREK TODD THOMPSON, : 

Appellant, 

V .  

STATE OF FLORIDA, 

Appellee. 

CASE NO. 81,304 

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

T h i s  is a capital case arising out of Escambia County. 

Judge Nicholas Geeker sentenced Derek Thompson to death f o r  the 

murder of a store c l e r k .  The record on appeal consists of 

three volumes, which will be referenced by the  usual "R". 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court fo r  Escambia 

County on May 26, 1992 charged Derek Thompson with one count of 

first degree murder and one count of armed robbery (R 487). He 

apparently pled not guilty to those charges because he 

subsequently filed several motions, the following of which are 

relevant to this appeal: 

1. Motion to Strike Aggravating 
Circumstances ( R  4 3 7 ) .  Denied (R 4 8 3 ) .  

2. Two Motions to Dismiss Aggravating 
circumstances as Unconstitutional 
(R 440-43). Both were denied (R 4 8 3 ) .  

3 .  Motion in Limine to Prohibit Use of 
Victim Impact Evidence (R 487-88). 
Denied ( R  323). 

4 .  Motion to Exclude Evidence or Argument 
Designed to Create Sympathy for  the Deceased 
(R 493-511). Denied (R 3 2 3 ) .  

Thompson proceeded to trial before Judge Nicholas Geeker 

and was found guilty as charged on both counts ( R  534-35). His 

motion for new trial was denied (R 538, 541). 

The jury, after hearing further evidence in the penalty 

phase of the trial recommended death (R 537). The court 

followed that decision and sentenced Thompson accordingly. 

Supporting that punishment, it f o u n d  in aggravation that: 

1. Thompson was under sentence because he 
was on community control when he committed 
his crimes. 

2 .  The murder was committed during the 
course of a robbery. 

3 .  It was done for the purpose of avoiding 
or preventing a lawful arrest. 
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4. It w a s  done in a cold ,  calculated and 
premeditated manner without any pretense 
of moral or l ega l  justification. 

( R  580-82). 

The court found that none of the statutory mitigation 

applied, and it rejected most of the nonstatutory evidence 

Thompson offered as not being of any or much weight. 

agree however, that the defendant was a good parent and 

It d i d  

provider and that he was a non-violent person (R 584-85). This 

proof did little to ameliorate a death sentence. 

This appeal follows. 

- 3 -  



STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Marilyn Coltrain was hungry. Sometime after midnight on 

May 3 ,  1992 she stopped at a Subway Sandwich Shop in Pensacola. 

She went inside, bought a sandwich, and returned to her car and 

began to e a t  (T R 163). As she d i d  so, she saw Derek Thompson, 

a "pleasant-looking" man who "looked happy" go inside, talk 

briefly with Carl Lenzo, the attendant, and then shoot him 

(R 164). Coltrain quickly left b u t  as she drove away she 5aw 

the defendant leap over the counter (R 165). She stopped at a 

nearby  store and reported the shooting. The police were called 

and this witness returned t o  the shop where she saw a young man 

who told her that Thompson had apparently pointed the gun at 

him as the defendant stuck it in his pants and ran around a 

corner ( R  165-66). 

A policeman was within blocks of the sandwich shop, and 

when alerted t o  the homicide, he immediately drove to the crime 

scene. Enroute, he saw the defendant walking a l o n g  a street, 

and because he matched the description given over the radio, 

the officer stopped him (R 210). Thompson, who had his back to 

the law enforcement officer, hesitated briefly, raised his 

hands, and went to where the officer stood (R 211). A 9 

millimeter magazine and $108 in cash were f o u n d  o n  him (R 211). 

A 9 millimeter gun was found where Thompson had stopped when 

arrested (R 214). 

H e  was returned t o  the crime scene where Coltrain and the 

young man identified him (R 169, 203). 

-4- 



Lenzo died instantly from a s i n g l e  sho t  t o  t h e  head ( R  

193, 194). 

- 5 -  



SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Derek Thompson presents five issues for this court to 

consider: one guilt phase and four penalty phase questions. 

ISSUE I. During closing argument the state told t h e  jury that 

the gun it had introduced at trial had been available for 

anyone to test. Defense counsel objected to that comment as a 

comment on his right to remain silent. It was so because it 

was fairly susceptible of being interpreted by the jury as 

telling them that Thompson could have tested the weapon if he 

had wanted to do so .  This argument is b u t  the latest i n  a l ong  

line of comments on defendants' rights to remain silent, which 

this court h a s  repeatedly warned prosecutors they should n o t  

violate. The evidence fairly shouts that they have ignored 

these admonitions and have continued to do as they please. 

This court should reverse, not only because the court erred i n  

not granting Thompson's motion for a new trial, but to also 

send a message to t h e  prosecutor's around the state to stop 

this practice. 

ISSUE 11. The court found this murder to have been committed 

in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any 

moral or legal justification. The facts it found justifying 

this aggravator do not. This court has required proof that the 

murder w a s  carefully planned, it was deliberately committed 

before it will approve applying this aggravating factor to a 

particular case. Here the state failed t o  carry its burden. 

This was a "stripped down" murder with none of the frills that 

-6- 



A ,  I '  

distinguish a routine felony-murder from the ones for which a 

death sentence is appropriate. 

ISSUE 111. The court also found Thompson killed Lenzo to avoid 

or prevent a lawful arrest. Again, the facts supporting this 

conclusion hardly do so. What we have, instead, is an example 

of the trial court speculating about what it believed must have 

been the motivating reason for the killing. Because the 

evidence does not support its conclusion it should not have 

found this aggravating factor applied. 

ISSUE IV. The court admitted evidence at the sentencing 

portion of Thompson's trial that he was on community control 

when he killed Carl Lenzo. That was error because his 

community control had been illegally extended as a trial court 

later determined. He was, in short, not on community control 

at the time he committed his latest crimes. 

ISSUE V. This simply is not a death case. The murder was 

about as simple as can be imagined. There is nothing so 

unusually evil about Thompson or what he did that tags this 

case as one for which death is appropriate. To the contrary, 

Thompson comes from a decent background, had honorably served 

in the navy, was married and had two children, held two steady 

jobs, and had never shown any violent propensities. The murder 

he committed is within the norm of capital felonies for which a 

death sentence is inappropriate. 

ISSUE VI. Over defense objection, the court allowed the 

victim's mother to tell the jury about her son's background and 

the effect his murder had had on her and her family. That was 

-7- 



error because Section 921.141(7) Fla. Stat. (1992), under which 

the court admitted this victim impact evidence, was 

unconstitutionally applied in this case. That section is not 

an aggravating factor, nor does it genuinely narrow the class 

of defendants eligible for a death sentence. Moreover, while 

the language of the section has a nice humanitarian ring to it, 

it defies application in death sentencing. A l s o ,  even if the 

statute passes constitutional muster, it was improperly applied 

here because there was no evidence of Lenzo's uniqueness or how 

his loss affected the community. Finally, applying this 

section to Thompson violated state and federal ex post 

proscriptions. 

facto 
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ARGUMENT 

ISSUE I 

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING THOMPSON'S MOTION 
FOR MISTRIAL WHEN THE STATE, DURING ITS 
CLOSING ARGUMENT, SUGGESTED THAT THE 
DEFENDANT HAD THE BURDEN TO PROVE HIS 
INNOCENCE, IN VIOLATION OF HIS FIFTH AND 
FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO A FAIR TRIAL. 

During its closing argument, the state told the jury: 

Mr. Love testified that [the] gun that is in 
evidence that w a s  at the defendant's feet is 
the murder weapon. He a l so  indicated that 
the bullet, the shell and the gun are 
available for testing, anyone can repeat my 
test to determine whether or not-- 

(T 284). 

A t  that point, defense counsel objected to what the state 

had argued and moved for a mistrial (T 284). "By saying that 

he's indicating to the jury that we should have had to prove 

something, we should have had to go and get a ballistics 

expert, and that's how they are going to read that." (T 2 8 4 )  

The court overruled the objection, denied the motion for 

mistrial, but gave a curative instruction that Thompson was n o t  

required to prove anything (T 286). Immediately after, the 

prosecutor repeated the objected to testimony, "The expended 

shell and the gun are available for anyone to see and test and 

examine that wants to. And they were not destroyed in 

testing." (T 286) Thompson renewed his objection and motion. 

"He did not alter it in the way you asked him f o r ,  and we feel 

a curative instruction would not even be sufficient at this 

time since it was the same verbiage used the second time as the 

first time." (T 2 8 9 )  The court again denied his request 

-9- 



(T 289). It  should have  granted the motion and ordered a new 

trial. 

Trial courts, as a matter of practical necessity, have a 

considerable amount of discretion regarding whether to grant 

motions for new trial based on prosecutorial statements made at 

closing. T h a t  freedom h a s  limits, however, and this court has 

ruled that argument which is fairly susceptible of being 

interpreted as a comment on a defendant's right to remain 

silent can be the basis for a mistrial. State v. Kinchen, 490 

So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1985). Argument, directly or by inference, 

that shifts the state's burden of proof from its shoulders to 

the defendant's back are one form of this type of improper 

comment. Kramer v. State, 619 So. 2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1993). In 

Kramer, the prosecutor called on the defendant to produce the 

knife he alleged the victim had assaulted him with and to 

explain away the evidence which tended to show t h a t  t h e  v i c t i m  

was passive when killed. 

perilously close to an improper argument,'' but it refused to 

grant a new trial. It did note, however, that "The wiser 

approach would be not to make t h e  argument at a l l . "  

This court said the s t a t e  had "danced 

I Id. 

If past is prologue, the prosecutors of this state w i l l  

ignore that advice. This court in 1985 was 

"deeply disturbed as a Court by the 
continuing violations of prosecutorial 
duty, propriety and restraint. We have 
recently addressed incidents of 
prosecutorial misconduct in several death 
penalty cases. . . . This Court considers 
this sort of prosecutorial misconduct, in 
the face of repeated admonitions against 
s u c h  overreaching, to be grounds for 

-10- 



appropriate disciplinary proceedings. . . 
Nor may we encourage them to believe that so 
long as their misconduct can be 
characterized as 'harmless error,' it will 
be without repercussion. 

Bertolotti v.  State, 476 So. 2d 130, 133 (Fla. 1985). 

Undeterred t h e  state in Garron v. State, 528 so. 2d 3 5 3  

(Fla. 1988) inflamed the jury during closing argument, and this 

court again "expressed its displeasure" with the state's 

violation. This time, however, 

we believe a mistrial is the appropriate 
remedy here in addition to the possible 
penalties that disciplinary proceedings 
could impose upon the prosecutor. 

Id. at 360. 

Undeterred, the state in Taylor v. State, 583 So. 2d 3 2 3  

(Fla. 1991) improperly relied on jury sympathy for the victim 

in its c l o s i n g  argument during the penalty phase of the 

defendant's trial. This court disapproved of it and ordered a 

new sentencing proceeding. 

Undeterred, the state in Watts v. State, 593 So. 2d 198 

(Fla. 1992) in its closing in the guilt phase portion of the 

capital trial told the j u r y  "We are here today because [the 

victim's] life will never be the same." This court agreed with 

the defendant that the state's comment was improper but 

harmless. 

Undeterred, the state in Richardson v .  State, 6 0 4  So. 2d 

1107 (Fla. 1992) asked the jury to show Richardson as much pity 

as he showed h i s  victim. Again, this court condemned what the 

state had said, but once more it found the error harmless. 

-11- 



Obviously, the threat of disciplinary proceedings h a s  done 

nothing to stem the state's continued flaunting of the law. 

Equally obvious, this court has approved this impropriety by 

repeatedly finding such deliberate violations of the law 

harmless. As long as it continues to do so, so will the state, 

unrepentant and unashamed continue to v i o l a t e  the  defendant's 

rights to remain silent and to a fair trial. 

There comes a time though when enough is enough. If 

threats of discipline remain only that, and repeated violations 

of t h e  law have no cost to the  state, then this court should 

reverse regardless of the harmlessness of the error. 

court really wants to correct the sloppy practices of the s t a t e  

in its closing arguments, it should reverse in this case, and 

let the prosecutor here as well as those around the state know 

that they had better listen to what this court has said and 

If this 

obey it. 

This court should, therefore, reverse t h e  trial court's 

judgment and sentence in this case and remand for a new trial. 

-12- 



ISSUE I1 

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THOMPSON 
COMMITTED THIS MURDER IN A COLD, CALCULATED, 
AND PREMEDITATED MANNER WITHOUT ANY MORAL OR 
LEGAL JUSTIFICATION. 

In sentencing Thompson to death,  t h e  court found he had 

committed t h e  murder in a cold, calculated, and premeditated 

manner without any moral or legal justification. In support of 

that finding, it concluded: 

1. Thompson as a community controllee was 
supposed to stay at home, and if found 
beyond those bounds could be sen t  to jail. 

2. He committed the robbery at night when 
the victim was a lone .  

3 .  The victim was never aware of any 
danger. 

4 .  He did nothing to provoke the killing. 

5.  He w a s  shot in t h e  top of the head at 
point b l a n k  range. 

6. The shooting occurred before any money 
was t a k e n .  

7 .  The weapon was concealed. 

8 .  A round had to be chambered and the gun 
cocked before it could be fired. 

9. 
entering the shop. 

Thompson had prepared his plan  before 

(R 581-82). 

Rogers v.  S t a t e ,  511 So. 2d 526 ( F l a .  1987) is the leading 

case defining this aggravating f ac to r .  - -  See, also, Amoros v. 

State, 531 So. 2d 5 2 6  (Fla. 1988). Focussing on the level of 

calculation required to qualify for it, this court said, 

"'Calculation' consists of a careful plan  or prearranged 

-13- 



design.'' Rogers at 5 3 3 .  The evidence must show there was more 

than a careful plan to rob or commit some other felony. It 

must prove t h e  defendant had deliberately plotted a murder. 

Hardwick v. State, 461 So. 2d 79, 81 (Fla. 1984). ( A  planned 

robbery cannot support this aggravating factor.) In short, 

this aggravating factor was intended to apply to executions, 

contract murders, or homicides to eliminate witnesses. Green 

v. State, 583 So. 2d 6 4 7 ,  6 5 2  (Fla. 1991). 

Of course, a defendant who murdered someone during the 

course of a robbery c o u l d  have had the necessary elevated 

premeditation, but there is usually some additional evidence 

exhibiting the cold deliberation required. In Jones v. State, 

569 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 1990), the defendant had discussed 

killing the victims so he could steal their truck. In 

Haliburton v. State, 561 So. 2d 2 4 8  (Fla. 1990), the defendant 

broke into the victim's house while he slept and killed him. 

He did it, he said, to see if he could kill. In both cases, 

the murders were committed in the course of a felony, and 

bother were cold, calculated, and premeditated. 

Likewise, in Johnson v. State, 608 So. 2d 4, 11 (Fla. 

1992) (which the court in this case used to justify its finding 

of this aggravating factor) Johnson, before going on a n  all 

night killing spree, announced to friends that he wanted to rob 

someone so he could ge t  more drugs, and he would shoot someone 

if he had to. Repeatedly he deceived his victims into helping 

him f o r  which they were sho t .  This night of successful 

robberies and murders culminated in the execution of a 

-14- 



policeman with whom he had fought and incapacitated with two 

gunshot wounds. Those murders were committed in a cold, 

calculated, and premeditated manner. 

In contrast to Johnson and similar to this case, Michael 

Lawrence robbed a convenience store and killed the clerk in a 

store room. Lawrence v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S147 ( F l a .  

March 11, 1993). Although the trial court found that he had 

committed the murder in a cold, calculated, and premeditated 

manner, this court rejected that finding. The evidence showed 

only that the defendant had obtained a gun and intended to rob 

the store. "The state, however, failed to present sufficient 

evidence of the heightened premeditation needed to support 

finding this aggravator." - Id. There was, as this court s a i d  

elsewhere, no evidence Lawrence had a conscious intention to 

murder when he decided to rob. Hamblen v. State, 527 So. 2d 

800, 805 (Fla. 1988). So here, the s t a t e  presented nothing 

showing Thompson's unlawful p l a n  to kill, a n y  discussions 

expressing that intent, or a n y  proof that this murder was 

anything more than a "simple" felony-murder . 
Moreover, the court used the nine facts listed above to 

justify finding Thompson committed the murder in a cold, 

calculated, and premeditated fashion, and they hardly do so. 

For example, factors 3 ,  4 ,  7, and 9 have no evidentiary support 

and are speculative. The s t a t e  presented no evidence Lenzo was 

unaware of any danger, that he d i d  n o t h i n g  to provoke his 

death, that the weapon was concealed, or that the defendant had 

prepared his plan before entering the shop. Marilyn Coltrain, 
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the eyewitness in the best position to see and hear what 

happened, was busily eating her sandwich. She never saw or 

heard what happened immediately before the shooting (R 164). 

Also, there is nothing to support the court's conclusion 

Thompson murdered Lenzo late a t  night because the victim would 

be alone.  That thinking applied with equal force to the 

robbery and the state presented no evidence proving that 

Thompson waited until dark to kill (rather than rob) his 

victim. If anything, the state's case established that the 

time of day had little to do with the defendant's motive to 

kill. Immediately before the shooting, two young men had come 

into the store, and of course, so had Ms. Coltrain. Moreover, 

after leaving the store, she sat in her car in front and a t e  

her sandwich (R 163). The store itself had a l a r g e  window and 

the area around the building was well lit (R 163). 

That Lenzo was unaware of his impending peril h a s  no 

probative value and remained unproven in any event. 

Consciousness of imminent death applies more appropriately to 

the question of whether the murder was especially heinous, 

atrocious, or cruel. - See, Lucas v. State, 613 So. 2d 4 0 8  (Fla. 

1992). Likewise, that the gun had to be loaded and cocked 

before being fired proves nothing worth noting relevant to this 

aggravating factor. 

weapon or when he did so, and every firearm h a s  to be cocked to 

be fired. 

There is no evidence Thompson loaded the 

The only fact having any conceivable bearing dealt with 

Thompson's community control status. I n  Lawrence, like here, 
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the defendant was under sentence of imprisonment when he 

committed his murder. This court, however, did not rule that 

his sentence justified finding the murder to have been done i n  

a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. In the abstract, 

of course, the defendant's status could support this 

aggravating factor, but there should be some evidence that he 

coldly killed his victim because he was under some sentence of 

imprisonment. - See, ~ . g . ~  Tafero v. State, 403 So. 2d 3 5 5  (Fla. 

1981) (The defendant killed to avoid returning to prison.) 

Here, the trial court had to speculate that Thompson killed 

Lenzo because the former was on community control. There was 

no evidence that a fear of be ing  sent to prison if caught fo r  

the robbery motivated the defendant to do what he d i d .  

Moreover, if he was going to be sent to prison it more than 

likely would be because he had committed a robbery rather t h a n  

violating his community control. 

From the evidence presented at trial, or from the court's 

sentencing order, this court can only conclude that t h e  murder

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