SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN 26 1994

DEREK TODD THOMPSON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 81,304

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-1778

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE THE IMPACT THE VICTIM'S MURDER HAD ON HIS FAMILY, IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 17 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

Pretrial, Thompson filed a flurry of motions challenging the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty and the aggravating factors that might be utilized in his case. Additionally, Thompson filed a Motion In Limine To Prohibit Use Of Victim Impact Evidence (TR 487-488), arguing that since Fla.Stat. §921.141(7), took effect only July 1, 1992, and the murder occurred on or about May 3, 1992, any attempt to retroactively apply §921.141(7), Fla.Stat., to "the case at hand" was an ex post facto application. Thompson also filed a Motion To Exclude Evidence Designed To Create Sympathy For The Deceased (TR 493-511), wherein he asserted a number of theories as to why evidence portrayed as victim sympathy or victim impact evidence was either statutory aggravating factor or irrelevant to any unconstitutional based on several general theories. (Vaque and overbroad or in violation of the authority of the Florida Supreme Court to regulate procedures and practices and a violation of Florida Constitution, Article I, Section 2, 9, 17 and 21, and the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution). Thompson also filed a Motion To Prohibit Application Of Fla.Stat. §921.141(7), in violation of the <u>ex post</u> <u>facto</u> clause of the Florida Constitution and the United States Constitution. (Asserting that evidentiary rulings with regard to victim impact evidence was a substantive change rather than a procedural change regarding the admission of evidence) (TR 512-514).

Prior to the commencement of the penalty phase on December 16, 1992, counsel did not reargue his motions regarding victim impact but rather, stated "Judge, we would also ask, again, that this victim impact evidence not be considered by the jury for the reasons stated in the previous motions." (TR 323).

The State then moved forward with the penalty phase, presenting the testimony of Robert Nathan (TR 329-331), and Carolyn Lenzo (TR 331-334). The State rested (TR 334), and at no point did defense counsel object to the testimony of Carolyn Lenzo, Carl Lenzo's mother. Having failed to object and identify what testimony of Carolyn Lenzo constituted impermissible victim impact evidence, Issue VI has not properly been preserved for appellate review. In Lawrence v. State, 614 So.2d at 1094-1095, this Court reaffirmed that a contemporaneous objection rule applies to evidence even if "a prior motion in limine has been denied, the failure to object at the time collateral crime evidence is introduced waives the issue for appellate review. <u>Correll v. State</u>, 523 So.2d 562, 566 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 488

- 30 -

U.S. 871, 109 S.Ct. 183, 102 L.Ed.2d 152 (1988)." 614 So.2d at 1094.

Whether failing to timely object to the admission of collateral evidence or "purported victim impact evidence", a timely objection pursuant to Correll and Lawrence, is required. In the instant case, as reflected by the State's lengthy recital of the penalty phase facts, Carolyn Lenzo's testimony, when compared to the testimony of Thompson's witnesses, presented nothing more or less than background evidence generated by everyone of Thompson's penalty phase witnesses. Without a timely objection as to the basis for the inappropriateness of Carolyn Lenzo's testimony, the trial court, as well as this Court, is without opportunity to weigh whether any violation resulted. In fact, in reviewing the very wording of this point on appeal, the only reference to "victim impact" which may be gleaned is Mrs. Lenzo's remark that she "felt her son's loss greatly" (TR 333). At closing, the prosecutor's sole reference to "any impact" was that Carl Lenzo left a child who would not know him.

Ironically, the defense introduced what more readily could be argued as victim impact evidence. Thompson's mother testified that Thompson's legal problems resulted in a nightmare for her family (TR 392). Defense counsel, in closing, talked about the Bible and forgiveness (TR 410), and emphasized that although the jury heard "victim impact" evidence regarding Carl Lenzo's family, "victim impact" was a two-sided street and the Thompsons were suffering also (TR 411-412). Lastly, Thompson personally expressed his sorrow for the Lenzo family, especially the fact

- 31 -

that Carl Lenzo would not be around to see his baby, but stated that he, Thompson, was in this situation (TR 563-564).

In light of the failure to object to any specific testimony introduced by the State and the nature of the defense's presentation, clearly any "error" regarding "victim impact" evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Grossman v.</u> <u>State</u>, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988); <u>Daugherty v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1988); <u>Eutzy v. State</u>, 541 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 1989); <u>Adams v. State</u>, 543 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 1989); <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 549 So.2d 171 (Fla. 1989); <u>Parker v. Dugger</u>, 550 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1989); <u>Smith v. Dugger</u>, 565 So.2d 1293 (Fla. 1989); <u>Carter v.</u> <u>State</u>, 576 So.2d 1291 (Fla. 1981); <u>Porter v. Dugger</u>, 559 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1990); <u>Engle v. Dugger</u>, 576 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1991); <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 580 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1991); <u>Stein v. State</u>, <u>____</u> So.2d ____ (Fla. January 13, 1994), 19 Fla.L.Weekly S32.

To the extent a major portion of Thompson's argument concerns the applicability of §921.141(7), Fla.Stat. (1992), to his case, the State would again submit the issue as to <u>ex post</u> <u>facto</u> application or the constitutionality of §921.141(7), Fla.Stat. (1992), has not been preserved for appellate review. The record reflects, as previously noted, that defense counsel pretrial raised the spectre that the application of §921.141(7), Fla.Stat. (1992), was either an <u>ex post facto</u> application or unconstitutional on its face. Defense counsel, in a cursory fashion, renewed his previously filed motions prior to the penalty phase (TR 323), however, no objection was raised either as to relevance, <u>ex post facto</u> application or constitutionality

- 32 -

when the State presented the testimony of Robert Nathan or Carolyn Lenzo. Based on the plethora of caselaw that requires a timely and specific objection to the admission of any evidence, defense counsel was on notice that he should object to those admissions by witnesses which he believed to be erroneous. As such, Thompson's multifaceted argument with regard to the constitutionality of victim impact evidence is not properly before the Court.

To the extent this Court may entertain any of Thompson's "constitutional" arguments, the only issue which may be subject to review is Thompson's \underline{ex} post facto argument. The record reflects that the crimes for which Thompson was charged occurred on May 3, 1992, approximately two months prior to the effective date of §921.141(7), Fla.Stat. (1992). To the extent Thompson is arguing that the admission of testimony relating to Carl Lenzo's life constitutes an \underline{ex} post facto admission of evidence during the penalty phase of Thompson's trial, such argument is groundless.

The offense of murder and its constituent elements were and are the same before the enactment of §921.141(7), Fla.Stat. (1992), and now after its effective date. Section 921.141(1), specifically provides:

> . . . In the proceeding, evidence may be presented as to any matter that the court deems relevant to the nature of the crime and the character of the defendant and shall matters relating to any of the include circumstances mitigating aggravating or and (6). enumerated in §§(5) Any such evidence which the court deems to have probative value may be received, regardless of its admissibility under the exclusionary

rules of evidence, provided the defendant is accorded a fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay statements. However, this subsection shall not be construed to authorize the introduction of any evidence secured in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution of the State of Florida. . .

Whether §921.141(7), Fla.Stat. (1992), ever existed is of no moment since it is within the trial court's discretion to allow any such evidence which the court deems to have probative value. While the State is not unmindful that this Court, in <u>Grossman v.</u> <u>State</u>, 525 So.2d 833, 842 (Fla. 1988), held that "victim impact is a non-statutory aggravating circumstance which would not be an appropriate circumstance on which to base a sentence of death", it cannot be discerned that all evidence regarding a victim, if heard by the sentencer, is the only basis upon which the death penalty is justified.

In Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. ___, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (1991), the United States Supreme Court concluded that both <u>Booth v. Maryland</u>, 482 U.S. 496, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (1987), and <u>South Carolina v. Gathers</u>, 490 U.S. 805, 109 S.Ct. 2207, 104 L.Ed.2d 876 (1989), "were wrongly decided and should be, and now are overruled." The Court went on to observe that the misreading of its prior decision in <u>Booth</u>, <u>supra</u>, had unfairly weighted the scales in a capital trial -- virtually no limits are placed on irrelevant mitigating evidence a capital defendant may introduce regarding his circumstances, but, the State was barred from offering a glimpse of the life the defendant chose to extinguish or demonstrate the loss to the victim's family and society. The Court observed that victim

- 34 -

impact evidence was designed to show the uniqueness of the victim as an individual:

Victim impact evidence is simply another form or method of informing the sentencing authority about the specific harm caused by the crime in question, evidence of general type long considered by sentencing authorities. We think the Booth court was long in stating that this kind of evidence leads to the arbitrary imposition of the death penalty. In the majority of cases and in this case, victim impact evidence serves entirely legitimate purposes . . .

* * * * *

We are now of the view that a state may properly conclude that for the jury to assess meaningfully the defendant's moral culpability and blameworthiness, it should have before it at the sentencing phase evidence of the specific harm caused by the defendant . . . By turning the victim into a faceless stranger . . ., Booth deprives the state of the full moral force of its evidence and may prevent the jury from having before it all the information necessary to determine the proper punishment for a first degree murder.

115 L.Ed.2d at 735.

The Court continued:

We reaffirm the view expressed by Justice Cardoza in <u>Snyder v. Massachusetts</u>, 291 U.S. 97, 122 (1934): 'Justice, though due to the accused, is due to the accuser also. The concept of fairness must not be strained until it is narrowed to a filament. We are to keep the balance true.'

115 L.Ed.2d at 736.

Herein, the testimony of Carolyn Lenzo, when compared with the testimony of the defense's witnesses, cannot be singled out as the basis upon which the death penalty was imposed. In fact, the prosecution, except for a fleeting comment, made no reference to any victim impact. It was the defense that continually reminded the jury of victim impact evidence suggesting that victim impact evidence went both ways, not only for the victim's family but also for the accused's family. Why was it any more important to know that Thompson's sister, Natasha, was a student getting her degree in computer sciences, was married and had one child, or that Thompson's brother, Brian, was in the Navy and was twenty-eight years old, or that Thompson's brother, Barry, lived in Melbourne, was twenty-seven years old and worked for the North American Moving and Storage Company, or that one of Thompson's uncles on his mother's side was a pastor? The aforenoted was not any more important nor any more relevant than the fact that at the time of Carl Lenzo's death, he had just found out his wife was pregnant!

In Dobbert v. Florida, 432 U.S. 282 (1977), the United States Supreme Court held that Dobbert's complaint, about the subsequent application of the Florida's death penalty statutory scheme to the 1971 murder of his children, was not an ex post facto application of law. The Court explained that even though it may work to the disadvantage of a defendant, a procedural change is not ex post facto. See also Hopt v. Utah, 110 U.S. 574 (1984) (change in law permitting a convicted felon to be called as a witness implicating defendant in the crimes); Thompson v. Missouri, 171 U.S. 380 (1898) (change in law permitting previously inadmissible evidence to be admitted in defendant's retrial), and Glendening v. State, 536 So.2d 212, 214-215 (Fla.

- 36 -

1988) (application of Fla.Stat. 90.803(23), did not violate <u>ex</u> post facto prohibition).

In Glendening, 536 So.2d at 215, the court observed:

Relying primarily upon the portion of the formulation of the scope of ex post facto laws from Miller which is set forth above, Glendening contends that §90.803(23), alters the legal rules of evidence and receives less or different testimony than the law required at the time of the commission of the offense. He further contends that because he was disadvantaged by the retrospective application of the exception, admission of the out of court statements of the child victim pursuant to §90.803(23), in his case violated the prohibition against ex post facto laws.

The court, following a discussion of Hopt v. Utah, supra,

and Thompson v. Missouri, supra, concluded:

The same reasoning which resulted in the Court's determination the Supreme that statutes in Hopt and Thompson were procedural leads to the conclusion that §90.803(23), Fla.Stat., is also procedural and that the statute does not effect 'substantial personal rights'. As in Hopt, '[t]he crime for which present defendant was indicted, the the punishment proscribed therefore, and the quantity or the degree of proof necessary to establish his guilt, all remains unaffected' by the enactment of §90.803(23). (cite 'left omitted). As in Thompson, §90.803(23), unimpaired the right of the jury to determined the sufficiency or effect of the evidence declared to be admissible, and did not disturb the fundamental rule that the state . . . must overcome the presumption of his innocence, and establish his guilt beyond reasonable doubt.' (cite omitted). а Accordingly, we conclude that the district correctly held that the court below application of §90.803(23), in the present case does not violate the prohibition against ex post facto laws.



536 So.2d at 215.

Thompson is simply not disadvantaged in the sense prohibited in Bouie v. Columbia, 378 U.S. 347 (1964), or Marks v. United States, 430 U.S. 188 (1977), wherein the Court concluded those defendants were left unaware of what conduct was proscribed at In the instant case, no the time they committed the offense. such confusion could have resulted since §921.141(1), Fla.Stat., specifically provides that the rules of evidence are relaxed at the penalty phase of a given trial and, laced throughout the rules of evidence are specific provisions that allow for the admission of evidence of a character of the victim. See, for example §90.404(1)(b)(i), Fla.Stat., which permits evidence of a character of a victim, ". . . A pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by an accused, or by the prosecution to rebut the trait". Or Fla.Stat. §90.404(1)(b)(ii), which provides, "Evidence of a character trait of peacefulness of the victim offered by the prosecution a homicide case to rebut evidence that the victim was the aggressor."

§921.141(7), Fla.Stat. (1992), merely codified what the United States Supreme Court observed in <u>Payne v. Tennessee</u>, <u>supra</u>, that the uniqueness of the victim is equally important as the uniqueness of the defendant in providing a "full picture" for sentencing.

Terminally, the State would reiterate that no timely objection was made at the time of the admission of Carolyn Lenzo's testimony regarding "victim impact evidence" and as such, the issue is not preserved. However, even assuming for the moment review might be entertained, the issue is not an <u>ex post</u>

- 38 -

<u>facto</u> application of victim impact evidence, but rather, whether the admission of evidence concerning Carl Lenzo was relevant. If it was not relevant, then was said admissions harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. Any error which occurred was harmless beyond any reasonable doubt.

No relief should be granted as to this claim.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Appellee would suggest that no relief is warranted and Thompson's conviction for first degree murder and subsequent sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.